ICES SGAFV Report 2005

ICES Fisheries Technology Committee
ICES CM 2005/B:03
REF. WGFAST

Report of the Study Group on Collection of Acoustic Data from Fishing Vessels (SGAFV)

17-18 April 2005 Rome, Italy

International Council for the Exploration of the Sea Conseil International pour l'Exploration de la Mer

H.C. Andersens Boulevard 44–46 DK-1553 Copenhagen V Denmark Telephone (+45) 33 38 67 00 Telefax (+45) 33 93 42 15 www.ices.dk info@ices.dk

Recommended format for purposes of citation:

ICES. 2005. Report of the Study Group on Collection of Acoustic Data from Fishing Vessels (SGAFV), 17–18 April 2005, Rome, Italy. ICES CM 2005/B:03. 20 pp.

For permission to reproduce material from this publication, please apply to the General Secretary.

The document is a report of an Expert Group under the auspices of the International Council for the Exploration of the Sea and does not necessarily represent the views of the Council.

© 2005 International Council for the Exploration of the Sea

Contents

Exc	ecutive	e summary	1	
1	Agenda and appointment of rapporteur			
	1.1	Introductions		
	1.2	Review of agenda	3	
2	Teri	ns of reference	3	
3	Rev	iew of 2004 meeting	4	
4	Recent work			
	4.1	Using fish processing time to carry out acoustic surveys from commercial vessels - Richard O'Driscoll and Gavin Macaulay, New Zealand	5	
	4.2	Using commercial fishing vessels to conduct acoustic surveys of capelin in the		
		Barents - Hector Peña, Olav Rune Godø et al., Norway	6	
	4.3	Industry surveys of orange roughy off Chile - Edwin Niklitschek	6	
	4.4	Qualitative use of echograms beyond target organisms in support of the ecosystem approach - Arnaud Bertrand, France	7	
5	Rev	iew draft report chapters	8	
	5.1	Introduction	8	
	5.2	Use of fishing vessels	8	
	5.3	Instrumentation and remote operation	9	
	5.4	Biological sampling	10	
	5.5	Issues regarding cooperative research with industry	10	
	5.6	Study requirements	11	
	5.7	Analysis, processing, and data management	12	
6	Preparation of draft final report			
	6.1	Report content	12	
	6.2	Schedule for completion of report	12	
7	Teri	ns of Reference for 2006 Meeting	13	
8	Age	nda for 2006 meeting	13	
An	nex 1	: List of participants	14	
Λn	nov 2	· Concentual framework for data processing	16	

Executive summary

The Study Group on Collection of Acoustic Data from Fishing Vessels (SGAFV) held its second annual meeting at the United Nations Food and Agriculture Organization (FAO) Head-quarters in Rome, Italy, prior to the 2005 meetings of ICES FTC working groups, WGFAST and WGFTFB. The meeting was Chaired by Bill Karp (USA). Guy Fleischer (USA acted as Rapporteur and Jessica Lipsky (USA) acted as Recorder. The Chair opened the meeting by thanking FAO and introducing those present. The Study Group then reviewed the agenda and discussed the goals of the meeting.

Summaries of recent work germane to the SGAFV terms of reference were presented by four attendees.

- Richard O'Driscoll and Gavin Macaulay (New Zealand) Using fish processing time to carry out acoustic surveys from commercial fishing vessels. This is an important case study in efficient and effective use of commercial vessels as platforms for collecting acoustic data. The authors carried out scientific surveys during "down time" when factory trawlers were processing catches and not engaged in commercial fishing. Benefits and limitations of this approach were discussed during and following the presentation. Several important points were raised in discussion, including the need for a better understanding of operational and survey design limitations associated with this kind of work.
- Hector Peña et al. (Norway) Using commercial fishing vessels to conduct acoustic surveys of capelin in the Barents Sea. Three systematic surveys were conducted in an attempt to describe distribution and abundance of spawning capelin in the Norwegian zone. Although fish were not encountered during the first two phases, it was possible to survey the stock and develop an abundance estimate during fishing operations in the third phase of the project. In addition to collecting data for abundance estimation, this study provided important information on migration and spawning stock dynamics. Following the presentation, the discussion focussed on concerns that sonar observations might influence behaviour by vessel operators, leading to possible upward bias in abundance estimates, questions regarding possible interference among acoustic instruments, and concerns about possible vessel avoidance by capelin (considered to be minimal based on the experience of Norwegian researchers).
- Edwin Niklitschek (Chile) Industry surveys of orange roughy off Chile. The author described the development of the Chilean orange roughy fishery, the lack of government vessels for conducting surveys, and the role that industry has played in supporting in providing platforms for acoustic assessment. This collaborative work has been successful. The success is due, in part to the fact this is a rights based fishery and the industry has strong incentives to facilitate stock assessment research. Discussions following the presentation considered technical aspects of data collection, statistical criteria for determining survey success, goals and incentives for industry participation in this type of research, and the author's experience in developing an algorithm for remote species identification.
- Arnaud Bertrand (France) Qualitative use of echograms beyond target organisms as support to the ecosystem approach. The author provided a brief overview of studies conducted off the coast of Chile. Research included studies of jack mackerel and bigeye tuna. Acoustic data were collected during broader studies of these species and the ecosystems they inhabit. Acoustic observations revealed diel migratory behaviour of jack mackerel and information on predator-prey relationships. He concluded that rough indices of plankton or micronekton abundance and qualitative classification of patterns of distribution can be very valuable during ecosystem studies. He encouraged researchers to collect and archive acoustic data, and not to discard data that is considered to be "noise" during biomass estimation of target species.

Lead authors of SGAFV final report chapters presented work that had been accomplished since the last SGAFV meeting and discussed plans for work to be accomplished before the 2006 meeting of the study group. These presentations summarized work that had been accomplished since the last SGAFV meeting. Subsequent discussions identified potential changes in report content and structure.

- Martin Dorn presented a summary of the chapter and led a discussion which focused on possible changes to be made in the next draft. The report provides an overview of the goals of SGAFV, and background information on relevant studies.
- The draft section on fishing vessels was reviewed by Ron Mitson and John Dalen. The section includes a detailed discussion on causes of radiated vessel noise, possible effects on surveyed species, and recommendations for mitigation.
- Richard O'Driscoll presented the draft chapter that had been prepared by Gavin Macauley, Atle Totland, and Olav Rune Godø. The discussion emphasized the range of applications that are currently being addressed through collection of acoustic data from commercial vessels, and the linkage between research goals and instrumentation requirements. Requirements and procedures for calibration were also discussed at length. Richard encouraged feedback from the study group so that a broader range of perspectives could be incorporated in the next draft.
- Bill Karp summarized the draft chapter on biological sampling. He suggested that the extent to which biological sampling can or cannot be conducted will limit the types of objectives that can be addressed by the research project or survey. He then proceeded to define several general cases for the purposes of discussion and concluded with a discussion of catch processing.
- Hector Peña presented the draft chapter on cooperative research. He identified several important considerations including limitations in agency research vessel fleets, ability to address a range of objectives, benefits and limitations of industry participation, and the importance of communication in all aspects of cooperative research
- Rudy Kloser reviewed the section on study requirements. This section will consider fisheries management objectives, ecosystem research objectives, and specific aspects of acoustic data collection from commercial vessels. Examples of sampling strategies will be provided. Emphasis will be placed on matching objectives with research tools. Rudy highlighted issues concerning management strategies and information needs, factors associated with quantitative data collection, bias associated with species identification and target strength estimation, and consideration of noise, interference, calibration, and instrument performance.
- Work on the analysis, processing, and data management chapter will be initiated following the 2005 meeting; lead author will be Gary Melvin.

Study Group members agreed on the following schedule for work to be completed before the 2006 annual meeting:

- Lead chapter authors will provide complete drafts to the SGAFV Chair by 1 August 2005,
- The Chair will collate and review all chapters for consistency and redistribute to SGAFV members by end of October 2005 for final review,
- Sections will be updated and returned to the Chair by 31 December 2005,
- The Chair will work with lead authors to develop a comprehensive near-final draft for distribution to SGAFV in February, 2006, and
- Outstanding issues will be resolved at the 2006 SGAFV meeting and the report will be finalized.

1 Agenda and appointment of rapporteur

1.1 Introductions

Dr Bill Karp opened the meeting and welcomed SGAFV members. Dr Wilfried Thiele, Senior Fishery Industry Officer, FAO, welcomed all participants on behalf of FAO and provided information on facilities and building access. Dr Karp indicated that Dr Guy Fleischer (USA) had agreed to act as Rapporteur and Ms. Jessica Lipsky (USA) had agreed to act as Recorder. SGAFV members agreed with this selection. The Chair then provided brief introductory comments regarding the work of the study group and the tasks to be accomplished during the meeting

1.2 Review of agenda

Following a brief discussion, SGAFV adopted the proposed agenda without change.

2 Terms of reference

The Chair reviewed the Terms of Reference (ToRS). The following text was provided to the Study Group by the ICES Secretariat:

The **Study Group on Collection of Acoustic Data from Fishing Vessels** [SGAFV] (Chair: Bill Karp, USA) will meet in Rome, Italy, from 17–18 April 2005 to:

- a) update, summarize and report on information on research which involves collection of scientific acoustic data from commercial vessels;
- b) develop recommendations for methods and guidelines for collection of acoustic data to address specific ecosystem monitoring, stock assessment and management objectives including: acoustic system calibration and performance monitoring, characterization of radiated vessel noise, comparability of results, survey design, biological sampling, data interpretation and analysis, and data storage and management; and
- c) prepare background material, guidelines, methods and recommendations for possible publication in the ICES Cooperative Research Report series.

SGAFV will report by 21 May 2005 for the attention of the Fisheries Technology Committee and make its report available to WGFAST.

Term of reference a): Collection of acoustic data in support of ecosystem monitoring, stock assessment and other scientific objectives has traditionally been carried out with calibrated scientific instruments aboard research vessels. Demands for this type of information have continued to expand and, in many cases, now exceed the capacity of national research vessel fleets. At the same time, improvements in technology have made instruments capable of collecting scientific-quality acoustic data more widely available, and these types of instruments are being installed on many commercial fishing vessels. Scientists have taken advantage of this opportunity to collect data in support of a range of research and assessment objectives.

Term of reference b): Standardized methods and protocols have been developed for routine acoustic surveys aboard research vessels, and concerns regarding research vessel radiated noise impacts on fish behaviour have received significant attention by WGFAST and the broader scientific community. However, recommended methods and guidelines for collection of acoustic data from commercial vessels do not exist, and objective criteria for matching data collection procedures with research objectives or for evaluating data quality are lacking. While commercial vessels equipped with calibrated commercial sounders are suitable for col-

lecting data in support of some specific research and survey objectives, use of these platforms and instruments will not always be appropriate.

Term of reference c): There is a recognized need to develop methods and protocols and publish them in an easily accessible report.

3 Review of 2004 meeting

The Chair presented a brief overview of the proceedings of the 2004 SGAFV meeting, also making reference to a topic session on industry acoustics which took place during the 2003 WGFAST meeting in Bergen, Norway. During both of these meetings, discussions addressed a range of topics and several concerns were identified. Use of commercial vessels for collection of acoustic data is appropriate for addressing some objectives and these must be well defined. There is a need to consider costs and benefits relative to specific objectives. Concerns include equipment stability and performance, time series continuity, radiated noise, biological sampling, survey design, data interpretation and analysis, and data storage and management. During the 2003 and 2004 meetings, presentations were made by scientists involved in studies germane to the work of SGAFV. Titles and authors are listed below to summarize the range of work that has taken place, or is currently underway, and the broad interest in the activities of SGAFV.

- Deepwater assessment surveys off Australia (Rudy Kloser et al.),
- Qualitative industry surveys of herring in Eastern Canada with multiple vessels leading to adaptive sampling and calibration of systems. (Gary Melvin *et al.*,
- Multivessel jack mackerel surveys off Chile. (Angela Barbieri et al.),
- Multivessel anchoveta surveys off Peru (Mariano Gutierrez),
- Surveys of hoki during normal fishing operations with calibrated commercial sounder. (Richard O'Driscoll and Gavin Macauley, New Zealand),
- Reference fleet assessment from chartered commercial trawlers in the Barents Sea. (Olav Rune Godø and Atle Totland, Norway),
- Use of chartered vessels for routine surveys (e.g., herring) off Scotland (Dave Reid and Paul Fernandes),
- Pilot surveys of hoki off Argentina potential for calibration and "low resolution" surveys. (Adrian Madirolas),
- Analysis of opportunistic acoustic data collections in the assessment of Alaska pollock Martin Dorn *et al.*),
- Use of commercial vessel acoustic data for monitoring stocks (Svetlana Kasatkina and Ivanova, Russia),
- Acoustic surveying from commercial vessels behaviour of Scottish herring fleet. (Dave Reid),
- Acoustic data collection from fishing vessels in the Gulf of Maine (Bill Michaels *et al.*, USA),
- Surveys with autonomous and remotely-controlled echosounders systems. (Dave Demer, USA),
- Performance of ES60 and EK60 systems (Rudy Kloser and Tim Ryan Australia),
- Specialized vessel construction (Atle Totland et al., Norway),
- Technology for species identification (Atle Totland et al., Norway), and
- Assessment of jack mackerel using EK60-equipped commercial vessels in Chile. (Hector Peña).

Following this discussion, the Chair again reviewed the goals of the 2005 meeting: discuss and update recent developments, review status of report, agree on content, authorship and

completion of final draft report, review ToRs, and recommend changes if appropriate, and report to WGFAST and FTC on progress and status.

Several SGAFV members emphasized the importance of maintaining a focus on the ecosystem approach. It was agreed that the goals of SGAFV are consistent with the ecosystem approach, and that there is great potential for addressing ecosystem monitoring goals through use of acoustic instruments aboard commercial vessels. It is also important to bear in mind that use of industry acoustics for ecosystem monitoring is just one aspect of a broader topic regarding use of vessels of opportunity for the collection of scientific data.

4 Recent work

4.1 Using fish processing time to carry out acoustic surveys from commercial vessels - Richard O'Driscoll and Gavin Macaulay, New Zealand

In some fisheries large factory freezer trawlers have periods of down time as the catch is processed. By utilising this time, scientific acoustic surveys can be carried out between commercial fishing operations without compromising fishing success. Examples are presented from recent acoustic surveys for hoki (*Macruronus novaezelandiae*) and southern blue whiting (*Micromesistius australis*) in New Zealand waters conducted from commercial vessels fitted with scientifically calibrated Simrad ES-60 echosounders. The approach described works well for small-scale acoustic surveys adjacent to areas of high catch rates (typically spawning aggregations) and is cost-effective because the vessel 'pays for itself' by fishing commercially. The major limitation is that the boundaries of the survey area are determined by the time available during processing, which is related to the size of the catch and the time required searching for a suitable location for the next commercial trawl. In the New Zealand surveys, processing time was typically 3–8 h, which was sufficient to carry out about 10–70 km of acoustic transects. Acoustic research was also limited by the use of a hull-mounted transducer to periods of relatively good weather. For further information, please consult the recent article by these authors (ICES Journal of Marine Science, 62: 295 – 305 (2005))

Discussion points:

- Benefits include low cost, increased research opportunities, and fisher participation,
- Not suitable for low fish density areas,
- Survey operations have to work around fishing operations,
- Sea state and noise problems with hull-mounted transducers,
- Less ability to sample for backscatter layer identification,
- Much analysis of echo data was done at sea; area identification and uncalibrated biomass densities. Acoustic data were available to captain, while researchers also looked at catches. Fishing strategy was changed according to acoustics but overall fishing area did not change,
- Information to date has been not fully used in stock assessment. However, since survey, additional spawning areas have been recognized in the assessment model. Results from industry vessel compare well with other survey results, and
- Involving more vessels may be advantageous or problematic. Concerns include selectivity of different fishing gears, radiated noise, and differences in the way transducers are mounted.

4.2 Using commercial fishing vessels to conduct acoustic surveys of capelin in the Barents - Hector Peña, Olav Rune Godø *et al.*, Norway

This study focused on a severely depleted stock of capelin (*Mallotus villosus*) in the Barents Sea which is co-managed by Norway and Russia. Scientific echosounders (Simrad EK60) and sonars installed on commercial vessels were used to describe geographical distribution and abundance of the spawning stock. Three systematic surveys were conducted; no fish were detected during the first two phases but fish were encountered during phase 3. Phase 3 surveying was conducted during commercial catch processing. Environmental monitoring was also conducted. This survey was considered successful because it was possible to complete the work within a relatively short (two week) time period. Survey results indicated that the capelin spawning abundance was slightly higher than expected from the stock assessment, but management advice was not adjusted. The absence of capelin during the first two survey phases could be due to an eastern migration of capelin through the Russian EEZ, as been observed occasionally in the past. Abnormally high surface temperatures to the west could have influenced this pattern of migration. Migration speed of the capelin is high when approaching the spawning grounds perhaps as high as 10 nautical miles per day (average swimming speed ~ 0.2m/s).

Discussion points:

- Use of sonar may influence survey tracking by vessel (motivation to re-direct to greater aggregations); this could create upward bias in survey results,
- Possible sonar interference with vertical echo sounding systems was observed, and
- Concerns were expressed regarding possible vessel effects and the possibilities
 for conducting intervessel comparisons, but the point was made that Norwegian
 scientists have observed only weak reactions of capelin to vessels.

4.3 Industry surveys of orange roughy off Chile - Edwin Niklitschek

The Chilean orange roughy fishery began in 1999 and covers 6 fishing areas (sea mounts) 200–500 miles from the coast. Given the small scale of the fishery and the distance from the coast, the Chilean government was unable to fund regular acoustic surveys. Moreover, no national research vessels were capable of providing a stable platform with adequate fishing capabilities given the open ocean-deep distribution of this species. Therefore, only biological data were collected by at-sea observers from the beginning of the fishery. Consequently, orange roughy quota holding companies in Chile recommended that a research program based on industry acoustics be developed, and signed an agreement with the government (2002) which included:

- Logging ES/EK60 data during normal fishing operations on wet fish trawlers (delivering unprocessed catch) to obtain distribution information and, eventually, a relative abundance index alternative to CPUE (2003-current),
- A collaborative 2003 survey using a chartered 58 m purse-seiner for acoustic transects; biological sampling and echotrace identification (trawling) by industry vessels on a voluntary basis,
- A collaborative 2004 survey, where each of 5 fishing vessels provided 15–45 days of dedicated time to complete 9 valid snapshots per sea mount with a goal of <20% sampling CV. (Valid survey criteria: >25% spawning females, <25% missing pings, <25% signal attenuation due to vessel motion), and
- A collaborative 2005 survey, where a single factory vessel will conduct the whole survey, including 87 days of dedicated survey time.

All vessels have been calibrated annually and operated under speed conditions that assure the lowest possible environmental noise. Results from 2003 and 2004 surveys have been accepted as (minimum) biomass estimates and they are used today for tuning orange roughy stock assessment models. Analysis of the routine data logging program is a work in progress, and relative abundance indices based upon this logging have not yet been accepted for stock assessment purposes.

Some lessons learned:

- Companies holding property rights might have higher incentives than government
 agencies to initiate and fund expensive research programs in small and/or developing fisheries such as the Chilean orange roughy,
- Extensive temporal and spatial coverage of the grounds provided valuable information about distribution and school dynamic. This had been impossible to obtain by means of a traditional, single snapshot surveys, and
- Goals and incentives for industry managers and vessel officers/crew are clearly
 different in time and magnitude, especially with wet fish trawlers that have limited endurance at sea. A satisfactory process for engaging wet fish trawlers in this
 survey activity has not yet been developed.

Discussion points:

- An algorithm for species identification was developed by the author. He was
 asked to elaborate on this. He responded that depth was the most important factor, followed by maximum Sv (maximum energy within an echotrace), kurtosis,
 longitude, horizontal correlation, and amplitude,
- Concerns were expressed regarding use of hull-mounted transducers for assessment in deep waters,
- When asked to elaborate regarding the outcome of error analysis, the author indicated sampling error was about 11% (resulting from the high level of coverage) and that overall error was 25%, and
- Industry protocols provide for commercial vessels to be assigned to research activities when a threshold of 25% spawning females in the catch is reached.

4.4 Qualitative use of echograms beyond target organisms in support of the ecosystem approach – Arnaud Bertrand, France

The author provided a brief overview of studies conducted off the coast of Chile. Research included studies of jack mackerel and bigeye tuna. Acoustic data were collected during broader studies of these species and the ecosystems they inhabit. Acoustic observations revealed diel migratory behaviour of jack mackerel and information on predator-prey relationships. He concluded that rough indices of plankton or micronekton abundance and qualitative classification of patterns of distribution can be very valuable during ecosystem studies. He encouraged researchers to collect and archive acoustic data, and not to discard data that is considered to be "noise" during biomass estimation of target species.

Discussion points:

- We now have the ability to collect and archive vast amounts of data but we still have limited capabilities for processing and analyzing this data,
- Fisheries acoustics in general, and industry acoustics in particular offer substantial opportunities for obtaining information that may be very valuable for addressing ecosystem monitoring goals and studies consistent with the ecosystem approach to management, and
- There is a need for improved data processing tools.

5 Review draft report chapters

5.1 Introduction

Martin Dorn presented a summary of the chapter and led a discussion which focused on possible changes to be made in the next draft. The following points were raised during this discussion:

- The introduction can be expected to improve as the authors gain a perspective on topics covered in the other chapters,
- Vessel-generated noise and associated fish behaviour is considered particularly important. It will be dealt with at length in a dedicated section of the report but should receive some attention in the introduction,
- Study design and data use in stock assessments will also receive more attention in the next draft (see comments in later section),
- Uncertainty analysis as a common theme for the report was suggested and discussed at length; some changes may be made to recognize the importance of this approach,
- Consistency in terminology was also raised and will be addressed by the editor when he reviews the next set of draft chapters.

5.2 Use of fishing vessels

This draft section was reviewed by Ron Mitson and John Dalen. The section includes a detailed discussion on causes of radiated vessel noise, possible effects on surveyed species, and recommendations for mitigation. Points raised during the presentation and subsequent discussion included:

- Many vessels have the potential to cause fish avoidance behaviour. ICES recommended underwater radiated noise limits (ICES Cooperative Research Report (CRR) 209). This report considers reaction distances of key species under different noise conditions,
- Noisy research vessels are often based on commercial designs with insufficient machinery isolation from the hull and variable (controllable) pitch propellers,
- On noise-reduced vessels, fixed-pitch propellers are employed, and vessel speed is adjusted by adjusting shaft rpm. Propeller shafts are driven by electric motors and electricity is supplied by generator sets,
- Many research vessels have measured noise signatures; this is generally not the case for commercial vessels.
- Knowledge regarding fish hearing response is lacking for several species and information on vessel avoidance behaviour is scanty. Variability is an important consideration in this context,
- Recommendations provided in the current draft and suggestions for additional recommendations were discussed at some length. Specific points included:
 - Several study group members felt that some of recommendations in the draft report (such as those concerning use of controllable pitch propellers, propeller blade requirements, always selecting the quietest vessel available, etc) were appropriate under ideal circumstances, but that some degree of flexibility was essential because researchers generally work under less than ideal conditions. Some study group members felt that such recommendations should be carefully linked to study objectives and recommendations should be considered with respect to the risk associated with making certain decisions. Others were concerned that some types of research might be precluded if recommendations were followed strictly and this might not always be necessary. Others felt that there should be clear guidance for eliminating unsuit-

- able vessels. Also suggested was development of a table linking research objectives to allowable noise tolerances,
- Since orientation affects target strength and may itself change as part of a behavioural response to noise, this factor should be considered by the authors of this chapter,
- Use of controllable pitch propellers should be avoided where possible to minimize vessel avoidance behaviour by fish - but, also to prevent restriction of fish detection capability by the echo sounders,
- The recommendation that commercial vessel owners should be requested to noise range vessels at survey speed when possible was considered important for many applications, but it was noted that not all research vessels have been noise-ranged but in most parts of the world facilities are available but expensive
- Transducer placement, and performance in good and bad weather should be taken into account during vessel selection, and
- The possibility of recommending propeller pitch settings to minimize propeller noise on commercial vessels depends on the design criteria used. This will be addressed in the next draft.

5.3 Instrumentation and remote operation

Richard O'Driscoll presented the draft chapter that had been prepared by Gavin Macauley, Atle Totland, and Olav Rune Godø. The discussion emphasized the range of applications that are currently being addressed through collection of acoustic data from commercial vessels, and the linkage between research goals and instrumentation requirements. Requirements and procedures for calibration were also discussed at length. Richard encouraged feedback from the study group so that a broader range of perspectives could be incorporated in the next draft.

Topics of discussion included:

- Equipment integration. Integration and ping synchronization among instruments
 produced by different manufacturers may be problematic, but synchronization
 may be critical to successful data collection. Time synchronization and event logging are also of fundamental importance,
- Calibration. The discussion should distinguish between needs for relative and absolute calibration. Beam patterns are required for absolute calibration,
- Identification of performance concerns from echograms. Alex DeRobertis has assembled echograms which illustrate a range of performance problems. He will make these available to the section authors,
- Transducer location:
 - Study group members emphasized the importance of knowing where transducers are located on commercial vessels, and the need to provide recommendations on locations which minimize potential for performance problems,
 - Some manufacturers recommend placing transducers approximately one third of the vessel length from the bow, but some researchers have observed better performance from transducers located further forward. Others have observed poor performance associated with recent installations in forward portions of hull; concerns about damage to forward-mounted transducers from pounding were also noted,
 - Weather-related factors and vessel trim were also noted as areas of concern,
 - The discussion on towed vehicles should consider stern and side deployment,
- Other instrumentation concerns:

- Several suggestions were offered regarding improvement of tables in the draft section, and use of tables for linking objectives with instrument quality, and equipment type with installation considerations, and
- It is important to recognize that small vessels may be perfectly appropriate for certain types of research but may not be able to provide instrumentation comparable to larger vessels.

5.4 Biological sampling

Bill Karp summarized the draft chapter on biological sampling. He suggested that the extent to which biological sampling can or cannot be conducted will limit the types of objectives that can be addressed by the research project or survey. He then proceeded to define several general cases for the purposes of discussion:

- Biological sampling cannot be conducted (e.g., when the vessel is transiting to or from the fishing grounds or if the vessel's gear is unsuitable for sampling scatterers encountered during all or part of the deployment),
- Biological data is provided from commercial gear directed to sample only aggregations of commercial interest (normal commercial fishing),
- Only unmodified commercial gear is available, but vessel operators are willing to perform additional sets in accordance with agreed-upon protocols,
- Some modification of commercial gear is possible to reduce selectivity (e.g., a trawl net modified with a codend liner) and/or the vessel is willing to deploy sampling gear in accordance with agreed-upon protocols,
- Concurrently collected scientific sampling data is available (e.g., from research surveys conducted in the same location during the same time period), or echosign composition can be inferred from other research activities, and
- Alternative sampling approaches (e.g., AUVs, video, emerging potential for use of multifrequency systems).

Next, he discussed catch processing and considered the benefits and limitations of sampling at sea by observers, sampling by trained vessel personnel, and port sampling.

The following points were raised during the ensuing discussion:

- Selectivity may be of particular concern when evaluating results of fishing with commercial gear. Modification of commercial gear to reduce selectivity may be in conflict with regulatory requirements,
- Non-lethal methods (e.g., optical or acoustical) for identifying scatterers should be encouraged,
- Incentives to encourage industry participation this was considered to be of general importance and should, be discussed under the "cooperative research" heading.
- The lack of gear standardization in commercial fisheries may be problematic, and
- Temporal and spatial matching of acoustic and biological data collection is important.

5.5 Issues regarding cooperative research with industry

Hector Peña presented the draft chapter on cooperative research. He identified several important considerations:

- Industry acoustic data may be collected to address stock assessment or broader ecosystem monitoring objectives,
- Industry acoustics may be particularly useful when the research goal requires obtaining the best possible coverage of stock distribution in the least possible time,

- Research vessel resources may not be sufficient to provide required levels of temporal and spatial coverage,
- Benefits of industry participation include cost, coverage, and political factors,
- Limitations of industry participation include: vessel and instrument characteristics (noise, calibration and intercalibration considerations, concerns regarding industry personnel changing critical instrument settings), vessel availability and factors which may influence vessel selection,
- Communication is critical. This includes: explanation of scientific objectives, encouraging participation from all interested parties, addressing concerns regarding data confidentiality, onboard communications between scientists and industry personnel, drafting of clear and unambiguous agreements and data collection protocols,
- Motivation and incentives for industry participants include: direct and indirect
 economic factors. Motivation for individual fishermen and vessel owners may be
 different from motivation for fishing companies, and
- Examples of successful cooperation include Rastrillo surveys off Chile, and Eureka surveys off Peru.

Points raised during the discussion include:

- The need for further discussion of motivational factors and differences between individual skippers and fishing companies,
- The importance of linking information collection to the stock assessment process (when appropriate), and
- The need for input and examples from areas outside South America (several Study Group members agreed to provide sections for this chapter).

5.6 Study requirements

Rudy Kloser reviewed the section on study requirements. This section will consider fisheries management objectives, ecosystem research objectives, and specific aspects of acoustic data collection from commercial vessels. Examples of sampling strategies will be provided. Emphasis will be placed on matching objectives with research tools. Rudy highlighted the following points:

- Management strategies should be evaluated at an early stage in the formulation of research projects. This should include consideration of: management objectives (performance measures, indicators, reference points and decision rules), harvest strategies (monitoring, assessment and decision rules) and monitoring strategies. Tradeoffs should be taken into account,
- Key management information needs should be defined clearly; for example, precise acoustic echo integration snapshot biomass estimate may not hold the greatest value,
- Quantitative acoustic data use concerns include:
 - Factors which may decrease estimates (vessel avoidance, vessel motion/signal attenuation, proportion of stock sampled),
 - Factors which may reduce precision of estimates (calibration and sound propagation compensation, sampling, species ID and TS), and
 - Factors which may increase estimates (noise and vessel attraction),
- Addressing bias associated with species identification and target strength is of particular concern,
- Potential bias and precision concerns should be addressed prior to study initiation. Effects of noise and vessel motion on acoustic data should be determined before accepting a vessel as a data collection platform,

- On-axis calibration should be conducted before and after each data collection period.
- Onboard system checking should occur at an early stage and at regular intervals thereafter. This should include transducer impedance, and transmitter and receiver performance, and
- Instrumentation to monitor vessel motion is recommended.

Points raised during the discussion include:

- Error analysis is important but consistent operations or protocols may not provide consistent results.
- Abundance indices and absolute measures of abundance. There was much discussion of this issue and Study Group members expressed different opinions regarding the value of abundance indices, and the distinction between absolute and relative measures. It was agreed, however, that this is an issue associated with fisheries acoustic assessment in general. This should be recognized in the final report, and
- It was agreed that the chapter on study requirements would follow immediately after the introduction because of the key importance of matching research tools with study objectives.

5.7 Analysis, processing, and data management

Work has not yet been initiated on this chapter. Gary Melvin agreed to act as lead author. He will be assisted by Tim Ryan, Eric Armstrong, and other possible volunteers.

6 Preparation of draft final report

6.1 Report content

Draft report chapters will be updated taking into account suggestions and discussion points raised during this meeting. Work on the analysis, processing and data management section will commence as soon as possible. The study requirements section will include a table linking study objectives with vessel and instrumentation requirements, following the example proposed by Ian McQuinn. The editor will draft an executive summary following completion of all other report sections. The editor will also address issues of consistency and redundancy following review of updated chapter drafts.

Bill Karp agreed to assemble an annex consisting of abstracts of presentations from the topic session at the 2003 WGFAST meeting and the 2004 and 2005 SGAFV meetings. He will ask authors to review and update abstracts before assembling the annex.

6.2 Schedule for completion of report

SGAFV members agreed to meet the requirements of the following schedule:

- Lead chapter authors will provide complete drafts to the SGAFV Chair by 1 August 2005,
- The Chair will collate and review all chapters for consistency and redistribute to SGAFV members by end of October 2005 for final review,
- Sections will be updated and returned to the Chair by 31 December 2005,
- The Chair will work with lead authors to develop a comprehensive near-final draft for distribution to SGAFV in February, 2006, and
- Outstanding issues will be resolved at the 2006 SGAFV meeting and the report will be finalized soon after that meeting.

7 Terms of Reference for 2006 Meeting

SGAFV recommended a minor change in ToR c for 2006. This ToR would be changed from:

Prepare background material, guidelines, methods and protocols for possible publication in the Cooperative Research Report series to:

Prepare background material, guidelines, methods and protocols for publication in the Cooperative Research Report series.

SGAFV will hold its next meeting in Hobart, Tasmania, from 25-26 March, 2006.

8 Agenda for 2006 meeting

SGAFV members agreed on the following major agenda items for the 2006 meeting of the study group:

- Discuss recent developments in the field,
- Review the draft final report and resolve any areas of concern, and
- Reach agreement on a schedule and responsibilities for completion of the final report and submission to the ICES Secretariat for publication as a Cooperative Research Report.

Annex 1: List of participants

Name	Address	PHONE/FAX	EMAIL
Bertrand, Arnaud	IRD, CRHMT, Rue Jean-Monet, BP 171, 34203 Sete Cedex, France	+33(0)499 57 32 11	arnaud.bertrand@ird.fr
Bertrand, Sophie	IRD, CRHMT, Rue Jean-Monet, BP 171, 34203 Sete Cedex, France	+33(0)499 57 32 20	sophie.bertrand@ird.fr
Boyra, Guillermo	AZTI, Herrera kaia, Portualde z/g, 20110 Pasaia (Gipuzkoa), Spain	+34 943004800	gboyra@pas.azti.es
Clarke, Maurice	The Marine Institute, Galway Technology Park, Parkmore, Gal- way, Ireland	00353 1 8228354/00353 1 8205078	maurice.clarke@marine.ie
Condiotty, Jeff	Simrad, Inc., 19210 33rd Ave West, Lynwood, WA 98036, USA	+1 (425) 778–8821/+1 (425) 771–7211	jeff.condiotty@simrad.com
Dalen, John	Institute of Marine Re- search, P.O. Box 1870 Nordnes, N-5817 Ber- gen, Norway	+47 55238457	john.dalen@imr.no
De Robertis, Alex	NOAA/AFSC, 7600 Sand Point Way NE, Seattle, WA 98115, USA	+1 (206) 526–4789	alex.derobertis@noaa.gov
Demer, David	NOAA/SWFSC, 8604 La Jolla Shores Dr, La Jolla, CA 92037, USA	+1 (858) 546– 5603/+1(858) 546–5653	david.demer@noaa.gov
Dezhang, Chu	Woods Hole Oceano- graphic Institution, Woods Hole, MA 02543, USA	+1 (858) 546- 5603/+1(858) 546-5653	dchu@whoi.edu
Dorn, Martin	NOAA/AFSC, 7600 Sand Point Way NE, Seattle, WA 98115, USA	+1 (206) 526–6548/+1 (206) 526 6723	martin.dorn@noaa.gov
Eger, Kjell	Simrad A/S, P.O. Box 111, 3191 Horten, Nor- way	+47 33034483	kjell.eger@simrad.com
Fleischer, Guy	NOAA/NWFSC, 2725 Montlake Blvd E., Seat- tle, WA, 98112, USA	+1 (206) 860 3289/+1 (206) 860 6792	guy.fleischer@noaa.gov
Gerlotto, François	IRD, CRHMT, Rue Jean-Monet, BP 171, 34203 Sete Cedex, France	+33(0)499 57 32 05	francois.gerlotto@ifremer.fr
Higginbottom, Ian	Sonardata, GPO Box 1387, Hobart, Tasmania 7001, Australia	+61 (3) 62315588/+61 (3) 62341822	ian.higginbottom@sonardata.com
Horne, John	University of Washington, School of Aquatic & Fisheries Sciences, Box 355020, Seattle, WA 98195–5020, USA	+1 (206) 221–6890/+1 (206) 221–6939	jhorne@u.washington.edu
Hotaling, John	NOAA Fisheries, Office of Science and Technol- ogy, 1315 East-West Highway, Silver Spring, MD 20910, USA	+1 (301) 713 2367/+1 (301)713–1875	john.hotaling@noaa.gov
Karp, Bill	NOAA/AFSC, 7600 Sand Point Way NE, Seattle, WA 98115, USA	+1 (206) 526–4194/+1 (202) 526–4066	bill.karp@noaa.gov

NAME	Address	PHONE/FAX	EMAIL
Kloser, Rudy	CSIRO Marine Re-	+61 (3) 6232–5222	rudy.kloser@csiro.au
	search, P.O. Box 1538,		
	Hobart, Tasmania 7001,		
	Australia		
Lipsky, Jessica	NOAA/SWFSC, 8604	+1 (858) 546-	jessica.lipsky@noaa.gov
	La Jolla Shores Dr, La	5606/+1(858) 546–5653	
	Jolla, CA 92037, USA		
Lundgren, Bo	Danish Institute for	+45 33 96 32 00/+45 33	bl@difres.dk
	Fisheries Research,	96 32 60	
	North Sea Centre, P.O.		
	Box 101, 9850 Hirt-		
M O ' T	shals, Denmark	1 (410) 555 0605 (4	16
McQuinn, Ian	Institute Maurice La-	+1 (418) 775–0627/+1	mcquinni@dfo-mpo.gc.ca
	montagne, CP 1000, 850	(418) 775–0740	
	route de la Mer, Mont-		
M 1 ' C	Joli, Quebec, Canada	. (4 (4) 2054005	1. 6 6 1
Melvin, Gary	NZ Seafood Council, 74	+64 (4) 3854005	melving@seafood.co.nz
	Cambridge Terrace,		
	Wellington, New Zea-		
Michaela William	land	11 (500) 405 2250 / 1	william mishas!-@
Michaels, William	NOAA/NEFSC, 166	+1 (508) 495–2259,/+1	william.michaels@noaa.gov
	Water Street, Woods	(508) 495–2258	
	Hole, MA 02543–1026,		
Mitson, Ron	USA Acoustec, Inc., Swiss	+44 (0) 1502–730–274	ron@agaustag ag wir
Mitson, Kon		+44 (0) 1502-750-274	ron@acoustec.co.uk
	Cottage, Gunton Ave-		
	nue, Lowestoft, Suffolk NR32 5DA, UK		
Niklitschek, Edwin	Universidad Austral de		eniklits@uach.cl
Mikinschek, Euwin	Chile, Portales 73, Coy-		eliikiits@uacii.ci
	haique, Chile		
O'Donnell, Ciaran	Marine Institute	00353 91 730 494	Ciaran.odonnell@marine.ie
O Donnen, Ciaran	Galway Technology	00333 91 730 494	Ciaran.odoimen@marme.ie
	Park, Parkmore,		
	Galway, Ireland		
O'Driscoll, Richard	NIWA, Private Bag, 14–	+64 (4) 3860300/+64	r.odriscoll@niwa.co.nz
O Diiscon, Richard	901 Kilbirnie, Welling-	(4) 3860574	1:0dffscoff@ffwa.co.fiz
	ton, New Zealand	(4) 3000374	
Patchell, Graham	Sealord Group Limited,	+64 3 548 3069	gjp@sealord.co.nz
r aterien, Granam	PO Box 11, Nelson,	104 3 340 3007	gjp @ scaroru.co.nz
	New Zealand		
Peña, Hector	Institute of Marine Re-		hector.pena@iMrno
1 01111, 1100101	search, P.O. Box 1870		nector.pena e nvimo
	Nordnes, N-5817 Ber-		
	gen, Norway		
Rosen, Shale	Gulf of Maine Research	+1 (207) 772–2321/+1	srosen@gmri.org
rosen, snare	Institute, 350 Commer-	(207) 772–6855	Stosen e gillitiong
	cial St., Portland, ME	(207) 772 3033	
	04101, USA		
Totland, Atle	Institute of Marine Re-	+47 55238668	atle.totland@imr.no
	search, P.O. Box 1870		
	Nordnes, N-5817 Ber-		
	gen, Norway		
Wespestad, Vidar	Pacific Whiting Coop-	+1 (425) 672–7603	vidar@worldnet.att.net
	erative, 21231 8th Place	- (, 0 ,000	
	NW, Lynwood, WA		
	98036, USA		
Wilson, Chris	NOAA/AFSC, 7600	+1 (206) 526-6435/+1	chris.wilson@noaa.gov
	Sand Point Way NE,	(202) 526 6723	- Indumigo
	Seattle, WA 98115,	(=32) 525 5725	
	USA		

Annex 2: Conceptual framework for data processing

Chris Wilson (USA) made a brief presentation on the concept for a software product to process acoustic data collected during eastern Bering Sea groundfish trawl surveys. This data could then be used to augment data collected during targeted walleye pollock acoustic surveys.

This software is to be semi-autonomous, allowing deletion of bad data, to flagging of suspect data, and would be used only to process water column backscattering (e.g., no judging, no image analysis, and no multi-frequency comparisons).